
DOCKET No._

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES

JOHNATHAN I. ALCEGAIRE,

Petitioner

SECRETARY, DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, AND
ATTORNEY GENERAL, STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

APPLICATION FOR SIXTY (60) DAY EXTENSION OF TIME TO FILE PETITION
FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT ADDRESSED

TO JUSTICE CLARENCE THOMAS

PETITIONER, Johnathan L Alcegaire ("Mr. Alcegaire"), by and through undersigned

counsel, respectfully requests an extension of time of sixty (60) days to file his Petition for a Writ

of Certiorari to the Florida Supreme Couft, pursuant to Supreme Court Rule l3-5. In support of

his request, Petitioner states as follows:

l. Mr. Alcegaire is an indigent death-sentenced inmate in the custody of the State of

Florida. Mr. Alcegaire was convicted of murder and sentenced to death in the Circuit Court of the

Tenth Judicial Circuit in and for Polk County, Florida.

2. Undersigned counsel was appointed by the Florida Supreme Court on November 12,

2021, to represent Mr. Alcegaire in his post-conviction collateral proceedings which have

commenced in the Circuit Court of the Tenth Judicial Circuit of Florida (FSC Case No. SC19-

428).

VS



3. This case involves a challenge of the decision of the Florida Supreme Court affirming

his convictions and death sentences. Before and after the undersigned's November 12, 2021

appointment to this case, the undersigned was in contact with appointed direct appeal attorney,

Alice Copek, who briefed and argued this case at the Florida Supreme Court. The discussions

included the Motion for Rehearing which was filed by Ms. Copek on September24,202l,the

denial of this Motion (Order of October 27,2021), and plans for a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari

to be filed.

4. Mr. Alcegaire plans to file a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari in this Court.

5. This morning Ms. Copek responded to communications from the undersigned about the

filing of a cert petition, and the possible need for an extension of time to file the petition. Ms.

Copek asked the undersigned to file for this extension. The due date for the petition is currently

January 25,2022. A sixty (60) day extension, if granted, would extend the filing date to Monday

March 28,2022.

6. On September 9, 2021, the Florida Supreme Court issued an opinion denying Mr.

Alcegaire's appeal. See Alcegaire v. State,326 So. 3d 656 (Fla.202l) (Attachment A). On October

27,2021, the Florida Supreme Court denied Mr. Alcegaire's Motion for Rehearing (Attachment

B).

7. This Court has jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. $ 1257.

8. Petitioner shows the following good cause in support of this request.

9. Petitioner's postconviction counsel, the undersigned, met with direct appeal attorney,

Alice Copek, on December 9,2021to discuss this case. Ms. Copek resides in Tallahassee, Florida,

but she was in town caring for her mother who was undergoing treatments for esophageal cancer

at the nearby Moffit Cancer Center in Tampa, Florida.



10. In addition to the deadline on the instant case, Ms. Copek informed of several other

pressing deadlines in her other postconviction death penalty cases. This morning, January 10,

2022, she informed undersigned counsel that her mother's condition had taken a turn for the worse,

and that turn was affecting her ability to meet her professional responsibilities.

I l. Counsel for Mr. Alcegaire has communicated with opposing counsel from the Office

of the Attorney General from the State of Florida who informs that his office does not have

objections to an application for a sixty (60) day extension in this matter under these circumstances.

WHEREFORE, Mr. Alcegaire respectfully requests an extension of sixty (60) days to file

a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari, from January 25 to March 28,2022.

Respectful ly subm itted,

/S/ David D. Hendry
DAVID D. HENDRY
Counsel of Record
Assistant CCRC
Florida Bar Number 016001 6

Email : hendry@ccmr.state.fl .us

Secondary Email: support@ccmr.state.fl .us

The Law Office of the Capital Collateral
Regional Counsel - Middle Region
12973 North Telecom Parkway
Temple Terrace, Florida 33637
Tel: (813) 5s8-1600
Fax: (813) 558-1601

lanuary 10.2022
Dated



DOCKET No.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES

JOHNATHAN I. ALCEGAIRE,

Petitioner

vs.

SECRETARY, DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, AND
ATTORNEY GENERAL, STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

APPLICATION FOR SIXTY (60) DAY EXTENSION OF TIME TO FILE PETITION
FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT ADDRESSED

TO JUSTICE CLARENCE THOMAS

ATTACHMENT A

Alcegaire v. State,326 So. 2d 656 (Fla. 2021).



,Alc*gaire v. State. 326 So.3d 656 {2021}

46 Fla L Weekly 5264

3s6 S0.3d 656
Supreme Court of lrloricia.

,Johnathatt L ALCEGAI RE, Appellant.
V.

S'I'ATE of F'lorida, Appellee.

No, SCr9-428
I

Septcmber g,zo2r

Synopsis
Backgroundr Defendantwas convicted in the CircuitCourt, lOth Judicial Circuit, Polk County..lalal llarb, J.. olfirst-degree

ruurder in a triple hr:micide arising frorn a drug-related hornc irrvasion. and was senlenced to death. Del'endant appealed.

Holdings: The Supreme Court held that:

State's guilt,phuse closing argument containcd fair comnrent on eviderrce;

State's closing argurncllt did not improperly bolster testirnony of witness who rvas sole suryivor;

State's closing argument did not denigrate dcl'ense counsc[:

State's closing argument about defendant's lighthearted behavior hours after murders did not misrepresent evidenoe;

State's closing argunlent did not contain inrproper argumsnt for justice lor victimsi

trial courl acted tvithin its discretion in pennitting Slatre's use of a map as a detnonstrative aid in rebuttal cltlsing argulnent;

and

cvidsnce was suflicient to support convictions.

Affirmed.

{.'ar-:adr'" C.J., tlled opinion concurrirrg in result. in rvhich l.ar\rrrr and Llrritricrl, JJ., concurred.

('rrilrici, J.. filed opinion concurring in part and concuring in rcsult. in which [-au,$un, J., concuned.

*659 An Appeal i'rom the Circuit Court in and lor Polk Count"v, ,lalal A. llarb, Judge. Clasqr No, 532016CF0002114A000XX

Attornels antl l,nw f'irms

I-loward 1,. "Rex" Dirnrnig, II, Public Defender. Bartow, Florida, and Alice B. Copek, Special Assistanl Public Defender,
'l'enth Judicial Circuit. 'l'allahassec. Irlorida, for Appellant

Ashlr-r i\.torrii1 , AttomeyGeneral, Tallahassec, Florida, and'['irni.rtlrl A. Frceland, SeniorAssistantAtlomey Gencral, Tampa,

Irlorida, Ibr Appellce
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()piniorr

PEI1 CI IR.IA\4

"660 Johnathan Alcegaire appeals his judgrnents of conviction of first-degree rnurder and sentences ol' death. We have

jurisdicrion. S'ee urt, V. I l(bX i). l:la. Consr. Alcegaire was convicted and sentenced to death for his role in a 2016 triple

homicide in Polk County. We ai"finn Alcegaire 's convictions and sentenccs'

I"ACTS AND I'llOCliDU Itr\ L BACKC ROUNT)

The Incident

'I'he evidence presenred at trial established the following. At the time of the nurders, David Washington, Eneida Branch,

Angclica Castro, and Felix Campos lived in a residcntial unit located st 2314 East Magnolia Sreet in L,akcland. 'I'hc

residence was part of a triplex rnulti-unit dwelling. Washington and Branch rvere dating and had lived in the residcnce the

longest. Castro lived in tlre resiclence for about two day's belbre the murders. Cantpos. the sole survivor olthc 2016 incident,

met Washington in the sumtner <ll'2015 and livcd rvith Washington and Branch fcrr ahout two weeks br'lilrc tlre tnurders.

On the nronring of January 6,2016, all four residents werc at home. Washington. Branch, and Castro had returned hotne

around 4 a.m. after a brief trip to Miarni. Around 6 a.rn.. Carnpos lay in his bed. and through the bedrotlnt window, saw a van

pull inro the driveway.'I'hree rncn got out of thc van, knocked on a door leading dircctl!'Ii-otn the otrtside into Washington's

bcdroonr, and enlered the rssidence after Washington openecl the door for thern.

Washingron and the lnen then moved t'rom Washington's bcdroom into the living room. Campos rvas able to see into the

living room becausc a towel that hung on his bedroonr door caused the d<lor to rentaitt ajar.

Cartpos heard the nren talking rvith Washington. Campos recognized the nren, two of whom rvert later identit'ied as

Alcegairc and Jamaal Srnith, flyom a rccetlt visit to the residence. At one point. Alcsgaire rvalked into Clatnpos's budroom and

r.valked back into the living roonr atter atternpting to close the bedroom door. Shortly thereafter. Snrith rvalkcd inlo Campos's

betlroorri and shot Carnpos in the t'ace with a nine-nrillirneter firearm. Smith lelt Campos's bedroom rvhilc Canrpos remained

in bed and bled protusely. "l'he bedroom door rernained open, and Campos saw Srnith counting Washington's money and

bearing Washington with a stool. While Smitlr was bcatirrg Washington, Campos heard gunshots in thc bedrootns where

Castro and [lranch werc locatccl. C]ampos heard onc olthe women sa;'', "Y<lu shot tne." l{er words were lollowed by another

gunshot.

Shortly therea{ter, Srnith shot Washington, rvho was the last person to be sheit, Campos satv Washington get shot once but

hrrard rrvo gunshots. 'l'he assailants then ransacketi the residence and took rnultiplu iterns. including clectronic devices and

ccll phones belonging lo rhe victims. Betbre *661 leaving the residence, Smith retumed to Campos's bedroom. Campos

pretended to be dead, ancl Snrith left the roorn. Once the assailants were gone, Carnpos wenl to check on ltis ltottsemates. rvhtr

u,ere all dead- After inspecring his wound in rhe bathroom, Campos sought help fionr a oeighbor antl callcd 9l l. Campos r*'as

adrnitretl to the hospital and remained there for several days rvhile receiving treatn'lent f<rl his gunshol wound,

The Autopsies

The autopsies of Washington, Branch, and Castro rovealcd that each victinr died from one or tnore grtnshot wouttds. Dr.

Srcven Nelson, the chielmedical cxarrriner lbr Polk, l-lighlands. and Hardee counties. testified that Washington stlstainsd r!t'o
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gunshot wounds-.*one to the letl sidc of his hcad, and onc to the left side of his ncck. Dr. Nclson recovered a nine-nrillimeter
bullet lrom the gunshot wound to Washington's neck. Washington's bod,u' also showed ahrasions, contusions, and lacerations

thar were consistent with having been beaten.

Branqh susrained rrvo nine-rnillimeter gunshot wounds-one to her right check, and one behind hcr leti car. Shc also

sustained blunt f'orcc trauma. Dr. Nelson recovcred a nine-millimeter bullet fiom I}ranch's head. According to Dr. Nelson,

Branch would have been able to talk. walk, and m<lve after the gunshot rvound to her right cheek. 't'he gunshot behinci

Branch's lefi ear rvas the fatal wound.

Castl'o suslained a single distant nine-millirneter gtrnshot lr,ound to the back of thc hcad thal caused significant brain clamage.
'l'he gunshot q,ound was consistent'"vith Castro having been on the ground lvith hcr lace dorvn.

'l'hc llu rtlcr I nvestigation

'l-he sole survivor, Carnpt'ls, provided physical desmiptions of the assailants hut did not know them by their legal nanres

l.lorvcver, surveillance fbotage obrained tiom a store located at the corner of t].S. l{ighrva;'92 and Fairrvay Avenue irt

l..akeland identitled n van ol'interest to the investigation, ancl Campos identified the van as thc ottc in thc drivervay at the time

of the nrurders. Ad{itional footage ticlm otlrer local businesses and fiort red light camcras inclicated that the van belongcd lct

Ll-l{aul Moving & Storage of Dade County, and the van was located in Miarni trvo clays after the tnurders.

'l'he invcsligation revealed rhat the murdsrs wcrc drug-related and that there was a subslanlial connection betw'cen

Washington and Alcegaire's brother, Anclrerv Joseph. 'l'he victims' cell phones rverc lound scattered within blocks o{' the

clirne sicne. and infbrmation retrievecl fiorn Washington's phonc indicatcd that Washington had been traveling back and

ttrrlh bcrneen Lakeland and Miami, Washington's cell phone also contained nunrsrous texl tncss&ges belrveen Washington

and .loscph, ph<lros r:f receipts for nrone,v sent 10 .loseph. and Joseph's address at the }4onte Carlo apartments in lvliarni.

Washington and Joseph cornmunicated every da.v in the days leading ttp to the murticrs.

Canrpos tesritjed that Washington was sccretivc about his travels to Miami. On cross-examination. Clampos aclmitted to

selling drugs lor Washington whilc Washington and the others were away on Janualy'5 and 6, and to giving Washington

$500 upon their return to the residence around 4 a.nt. on the ntomitrg of January 6.

l;'urther investigaticx linked Joseph to thc Li-l'laul van and, subsequently, to Alcegaire. Rental lecords, whioh were

cgrobgrated by cell phone and bank rccords, rcvcaled that Joseph rented the van at 6:43 p.ln. oll January 5, the day betbre

the *662 r.nurders. Nine-millirneteranrnrunilion was lbund in a latex glove inside of the van.

The lead clelectivc sho*,ed Carnpos a photo lineup containing Joseph's pltoto. Campos rvas initially'unable to identi! Joseph

Iinrn rhe lineup but later recognized hirn in a difl'erent pltoto and indicated rhat Joseph previously visited Washington's

residcnue . Jeiseph rvas soon arested while leaving his apartmcnt.

During a seurch of' .hseph's aparrment. among orher iterns, investigators fcrund Alcegaire's personal bek:ngings and lalex

rrlovcs similar to thc one lbund in the l,i-Haul van, Based on these developmcnts, anothcr photo lineup rvas prepared w'ith

Alcegairc's phoro. Cln January 12, Canrpos irnmecliatcll, identifled Alcegaire. statins: ""1'his is the gilY lhat tvas in the housc

rvhen I rvas shor in the face and rny liiends r.r,erc murdercd."

Alcegaire rvas anested on the sarne day that Clanrpos identil'ied him. At the tinre olhis anest, Alcegaire was getting a haircut

to rcmove dreadlocks that he had been grttwing tbr approximately eighteen nionths. Aller Alcegaire's arrest. a straw hat was

rctrieved during a searcb of Joseph's car. Photos on Alcegaire's cell phone showcd hinr rvcaring a strarv hat jtrst da-vs beftrre

tle murtlcrs.

Ir'urrher cvidence esrablished Alcegaire's connectiorls to Washington, Washington's residence in Lakeland, and the nrttrders'

Infbnrration retrieved fionr Washington's cell phorrer revealed a text rnessagc liorn Washington to Alcegaire dated December

27.2(t15, containing Washington's 23 l4 liast lvlagnolia Street address.
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l'he sanre day, Alcegaire traveled to l.akeland. One ol Washington's fric'nds testified that he was at Washitlgton's residence

r:n Decenber 27 rvhen Alcegairc antl two other men visiteti. During that tinre. Alcegaire displayed cither a nine-millimeter or

a .40 caliber t"rreann, and another individual tllled a iatcx glove with ammunition. The rvitness observcd that at that titne,

Alcegaire wore his hair in dreadlocks. Campos similarly testified that Alcegaire visited Washington's rssidence on thal date

ancl tirat Alccgaire wore his hair in dreadlocks. Alcegaire's visit was also coroborated by cell phone records. Alccgaile's cell

phone utilizecl the cell phone tower across rhe street firxn Washington's residcnce, and Alcegaire arld Washinglon had phone

contact eighteen tirues that da1'.

On January 5, 20 16, the ria,r, before the rnurders, Alcegaire's cell phone records plaocd hirn in rht vioinii,v of'the {"-i-l-laul

rental location atrhc time that Joseph rented the van, and in cornmunication rvith Joseph around that lirne.

Sgrveillarrce lbotage l'ronr the Monte Carlo spafilrents captured thc U-llaul van traveling inlo arrd otlt o[ the apartmenl

cr:nrplex on thc cveninq ol'January --{ and the nroming clf January 6. On January -5, the lj-Haul van qnte,red thc apartrrtent gate

at 9:41 p.m.. and Alcegaire enlered Joseph's apartnlent buildirrg rninutes latet,

Around l2:15 a.m. orrJanuary 6, Alcegaire drove rhe U-llaul van away from the eomplex, and he rsturned about one hour

latcr accompanied by Smith. Alcegaire and Smith entered Joseph's apartment. and Joseph, rvho had left a f'ew hours earlier,

returned shor-tly therealier.

At l:.{5 a.m., Alcegaire and Srnith left Joseph's apartment, and surveillance fbotage showed thenr on the apafiment building

elevalor at l:48 a.m. Alcegaire was rvearing a straw hat and carrying zip ties, and Smrth was weuring a ball cap. At 1:5 I a.m',

the tJ-l-laul van exited thc complex.

Toll plaza photos and ccll phone tor.vcr records cotroboralod fhe movements of the ti-Haul van, which Faveled lrom Miami

to l,akelancl on the Florida'i'umpike, *663'l'he t.i-l-laul van was captured in multiple tollplaza phertos. otte o['which showcd

the driver wearing a straw hat ancl the passc'ngcr rvearing a ball cap. At 2:2 I a.m,. Alccgaire's ccll phone utilized a cell phonc

tower nsar thc Clypress Crcek 'l"oll Plaza. 'l'oll plaza photos also shorved the U-Ilaul vatr traveling, sotlthbound later that

morning on its renrrn to Miarni.

At l0:40 a.rn., Alccgaire and Smith rcturned to the Monte Carlo apartments itr the U-l.laul van."I'he,v entered Joseph's

aparrmenr. and at ll;32 a.m., they exited the apa(rnent builcting carrying a rvhite trash hag. Several tnittutes later', the U-l laul

van ctrove out of the cornplex. lbllowcd b1'Joseph's ciu'. Rental records indicated that the t)-l-laul van rvns retumcd to the

rental locariorr on Januan- 6 at l2:2'l p.rn.'l'he van's odometer indicated that the LI-Haul van travelcd,i5l tnilcs during tlte

rental period. An invcstigatortcstified that the round trip fiom lvliami to i-akeland is approxitnately -503 n't;1.t.

After the nrurders, Alccgairc auemptcd to delete his cell phone call logs covering the period front November 19,201-5, ttl

.lanuary 7.20 16, but larv qnlorcenlent rvas ablc to recover infbrrnation from his phone. Alcegaire also dclctcd text tl)essages

tiorn his phone that rvere dated bclore January 7,2016. The deleted messages included Washingttln's Decetnber 27 tcxt
ntessage to Alcegairc that contained the llast lvlagnotia address. I-aw enforcement also retieved frorn Alccgairc's cell phone

a hisrorl' of the lollou'ing wcrb searches: "2]14 t)ast Magnolia"; "9 millirneter JHB"I "ls ll4 a porvertul grain for a 9
rnillimeter bullet?": "ls there onl-v one West Magnolia Stroct in Lakcland, Irlorida'?"; arrd "l:'cli.r Ctrrtpos, Irelix Carnpos,

l8-year-old [-akcland. I::lorida.",{lcegaire also accessed numerous articles relaling to the nlurders.

Convictions, Penalty Phase, and Sentencirrg

At thc conclusion ol'thc prcsentation ot'cviclencc cluring the guilt phase, defense counsel mnved lbr a judgnrent ol'acquittal.
'l'he trial court agreed that there rvas insufficient evidence that Alcegaire possessed a tlrcann itnd grantod a .iudgrnent ol
acquittal only to thaf extenr. Alcegaire r.vas ultimately convioted of the following: threc couuts of first-degree mrtrder(undcr
thc theories ol' both prcnru.clitated and lelony nrurder) lor the deaths of Washington. Branch. and Castro; tlre attenrpted

firsr-degree murder ol'Campos; burglary of a dwelling lvith assault and/or battery (originally indicted tbr arrncd burglary of a

drvelling rvith assault andlor battery); conspiracy to commit armed robbery; conspiracy to conrtnil first-degrce murcicr;
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tanpcring rvith physical evidence: and robbery (originall-v- indicted for armed robbery).

During the pc,nalt.v phase. the Statc sought ro prove the existence of the follorving aggravating l'actors as to eaclt rnurder: (l)
prior capital lelony convictions for dte conlemporaneous nrurders of the other victims; (l) the murder rvas commined for
pecuniary gain; (3) the nTurder was cr:mmitted while engaged in the cotnnrission of robbcry rvith a firearnt; and (4) rhe

rnurder rvas cold. calculated. and prerneditated rvithout any pretense of moral or legal justification (CCP). 1'o prove the

aggravaring lacrors, rhe Stete relied on evidence innr:duced cluring the guilt phase and on Alcegairc's convicliotts lor
lirst-degree nrurdr'r and r,rbberl.

'l'he State also prcsented vicrirn inrpar:t star(rmcnts on behalf of each of the victirns. Most olthe stilenlents rvere read by the

prclscculor.'l'he,iury was instructcd b;- the courl and cautioned during closing arguments that the victim irnpact evidence rvas

nol to be cunsidered irs rrn aggravatirrg lactor.

*664 Although Alccgaire insisted that thr clcfcnse ncithu'present mitigating crvidence during the penalt,v pltasc nor olfcr a

closing argrrrnent. the jun, wiLs nnnethelsss instructed on the follorving rnitigating circutnstatrces: (l) thc del'endant was iln
accontplice in the tirst-degree rnurder comrnitted b,v anotlrer person and his participation rvas relalively nrinor; (2) the

defbndant's age (twenty-five years old) at the timcr of the rnurder; and (3) the cxistence olany othcr fnctors in tlre delcnclant's

character, background, or lit'c or circuntstances o1'the offcnse that would mitigate again.st the imposition of the death penalty.

l{owever, thu jury did not lind that these mitigating circumstances were established by tlte greater weight o{'the evidence.
'l'he jury unanimously found each aggravating factor as to each murder, and it unanimously recomntended that Alcegaile be

sEnxcnced to dcath lor the rnurdcrs of Washington, Ilranch, and Castro.

Alcegaire also relused to allorv nritigation to be plesented on his behalf at his,lJri'rrr:cr hearing.' l-lorvever, in thc delbnsc's

sentencing rnernorandurrr. counsel argucd additional rnitigating circumstances.

!r,,,r,,: i rr,,', i"ii r:,,."?il(!(i{'1 1,,. laii.1).

'l'he rrial court .lerailed its fintiings in its sentencing order, including tlre follorving findings as to the aggravating llctors lor
each rnurdur: (l) prior capital felony corrvicrions l'or the conternporaneous murders of the other victints (grc,at wcighl); (2) the

murder rvas comrnired lor pecuniary gain; (3) the murder rvas committed rvhile engaged in thc commission o1'robbery with a
firearnr (rnergeel rvith pecuniary gain and assigned rnoderate weight); and (4) thc rnurdcr rvas cold, calt:ulatcd. and

prerneditated rvithor"rt al1)' pretense of rnoral or legal .iustification (CCP) (great weight).

'l'lre trial couil ntaclc the l'bllowing findings rcgarding mitigating circumstances: (l) the defendant was alt accontplicc in the

first-degree nrurdcr conrrnitted by anothsr person and his participation was relatively minor (not establishcd; no wcight); 121

rhe def'endant's age (twenry-five years old) at the rime of the murder (linle weight); (3) thc det'endant acted under extretne

distrcss or undcr thc dornination ol'anothe,r person (not established, no weight); (4) the jury did not hear any mitigation (not

csrablishrd. no rvcight): (5) the defcnclant is not the individual who caused the cleaths (established, but no rveight); (6) the
det'errdant has tnaintained an unrvavering declaration of innocence (established, but no weight); (71 the del'c,nclnnt had good

hehavior rvhile in the countv.iail awaiting trial (established. li*le weight); (8) the defendant dtmonstrated good courtroorn
bchavior (establishcd, moderate r.veight); (9) the non-applicability of thc rernaining aggravatirrg lactors (cstablishcd, no
weight); ancl (10) thc victirn, David Washington, was a drug dealer (established. litlle weighl).

'l'he trial court scnlenccd Alccgairc to death for each rnurder. Alcegaire lvas also sontcnced as tbllorvs for the renrainirrg
crimes: lif'c irnprisonnrent lbr thc attempted first-degrce murder of Campos, burglary of a dwclling wi(h assault andlor
battery, and conspiracy to commit arnred robbery; thirr),' years' imprisonmeni for conspiracy to conttriit tirst-degree tnttrder:
live ycars fbl tampering with physical evidence, and fitteen years lor robbery.

'l-his is Alcegaire's direct appeal
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ANAI-YSIS

Alcegaire raises five issues in this appeal. Adclitionally, atthclugh he does not challenge it here, we consider the sufficiency of'

the evidence on rvhich the State *665 relied to obtain Alcegaire's convictions. We address each issue in turn.

I. Motion for New Trial

Alcegaire challenges the trial court's summary denial of his motion for a new trial. I'he motion was based on summaries of
post-trial sratcments made by Clampos. Although the court denied the ntotion in an order dated March 14,2019, the court

questioned its jurisdiction Lo rule on the rnolion because Alcegaire's notice of appeal was filed three days earlier.

Indcecl, bcsause Alcegaire's notice ol'appeal had been filed, thc trial court did not have jurisdiction to rule on the motion.

II. Prosecutorial Argument

Alcegaire also argues that prosecutorial comments made during closing argument deprived him of a fair trial. Of the

comments challenged by Alcegaire. defense counsel objected to only one, lvhich occurred during the State's rebuttal

argument.,, Thus, this Coufi's review of the rernaining commcnts-to wltich defense counsel did not object is based on

whethel those comments constituted fundamental error. See llrtxtkt r'. S/c/,', ?62 So.2d 87q, 8ti8-99 (ltia. 1000i ("As a

general rule. this Court has deterrnined that I'ailing to raise a contemporancous objectiotr when improper closing argttnlent

comnlents are nrade waives any claim concerning such comnrcnts lor appellate review. The sole exception to the gcneral rule

is wherc thc unobjccted-to comments rise to the level of fundamental error, which has been defined as error that 'reaches

down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the

assistarrce ofthcallegeden'or."')(citationsomitted)(quoting ll'lc!)onultlr'.,\true.743 So.2d"i0 l"i05(l:la. 1999)).

Wc consider this conrment as a part ol'thc closing argument sunrulative error malysis in subsection (F) of this issue, and separately

in issue Ill.

Alcegaire also argues that the totality of the prosecutor's conrments resulted in cumulative error. To evaluate a closing
argument for cumulative error, "we examine 'the entire closing argumcnt with specific attention to the objected-to ... and the

unobjected-to arguments' in orderto tletermine'whetherthe cumulative effect'of an,v inrpropriery deprived [the appellantl ol
afairtrial." Bruilth,t,Slute. lllSo,"jd8l0,tl3?11"|a.20 I2)(omissioninoriginal)(quoting('urtl v..S/,1/r',80lSo.2d6ll.
ti2l (F la. 20() I )). As we explain, Alcegaire is not entitled to relief.

A. F'acts Not in Evidence

Alcegaire argues that in support of the Statc's theory that Alcegaire acted as one of his brother's (Joseph's) soldiers in

comrnitting the murders, the prosecutor discussed facts not in evidence. Alcegaire challenges the prosecutor's closing
argument characterization of a conversation between Smith and Washington before Washinglon was shot:

Felix told yoiJ that he gavc David a little over $500 when David camc horne that early tn<llrring. So David had money in his

pocket. S<l they don't search through his pockets. I guess they're not smart enough to realize David has money in his

pocket. But they find money in thc homc, and they are counting David's money.

And David is saying, "I gave all the rest of it to Z or Zo. I gave all the rest of it ta Z or Zo."

'' 'r', i ,. ,i., , .' r.l .i lji !
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Ilut Jamaal Smith is saying"Where is it at? Where is the rcst of it?"

'l'hey're there on a mission. They're there on a mission to t'ind what David has.

*666 Although there was no testimony about the exact words exchanged between Wa-shington and Smith, the prosecutor's

argumcnt r.vai a fair comment on the evidcnce. Canrpos, a witness to the altercation l>etrveen Srnith and Washington, testified

tlrat Smith counted Washington's money and beat hinr with a stool.'Ihe autopsy conllrmed that Washington suffered irr.iurics

corlsistent rvith being beatin. Canrpos also restified that he renrained in Lakeland and solcl clrugs for Washington rvhilc

Washington. Branch. and Castro bricfly,traveled ro Miarni, and that he gave Washinglon $.500 upon the group's relurn honle.
'l'here 

is no error ir thc proseculor's urgunlent.

Alcegaire als6 contends that the prosecutor argucd lacts not in evidertce b1.' trrisreprescnting the relationship bc[vccn

Wasiingron ancl Branch. For instance. Alcegaire arsues that the prosecuttlr wrongly relerred to Branch as'"{he lQve o['

IWashirigton's] lil'e." However. Washington ancl Branch were dating and lived togelhcr. Washington ret'erred to Branch as his

rvil'e. l'herc is no en'or in this charactcliz.ation, which rvas trrade in responsc to the de fi:rtse's sLtggtstion that only one person'

Sniith" cornmitted the myrders.'['he plosecutor's argurnent rvas that if Smitlr was thc onll' assailant. Washington would have

been i1 a bettgr position to ovelpowcr Snrith and save fJranch; Washington rvoul<j not have simpl,v waited in the living roont

rvhile Smith walkqd away to kill hcr. The prosecutor drew a reasonable inference frorn the evidence,

I). I mperm issiblc llolstering

Alcegaire also asserts that the prosecutor irnpropcrly bolstered Campos's testimony by (l) crplairting Campos's dslneanor ott

rhe wirness srand; (2) teiling thejury tt,ui C:.n,pur leare<i tbr his tite; (3) arguing that Clanrpos rvorked hard to avoid

iclenritl,ing rhe wrong people-when'shorvn photo lineups of possible suspects: and 1+) suggesting that Canrpos r'vas in 'shock

aftsr the shr:otings, We address each cluim and conclude that each is without merit.

l. C)ttmpos's demtanor

Alcegaire argues that the prosecuttrr improperly bolstqred Carnpos's testimony by suggestirrg that the way Canrpos presented

on rhc stand was rhe resuk of his injury and the failure to get proper treatment. The prosecutor argued:

I know--l anricipate that the Deflense is going to gct up here and ask you not to belicve lrelix. Felix is a huge part olthls
casc. I'm going ri: ask you to rhink about Felix and how he was in that witness stand. Felix sat sidervavs. He wouldn't look

at anyolre. l{e stared down, wouldn't tnake eye contact.

Whcn the doctor testificd, I asked hirn about some of the sicle etfects that someone wtruld sut'fer fronr an iniury, and he had

indicatcd sgmc of the things thar sorncone woulcl sulfer lront going through whal lelix has gone through, cspecialll"

someone rvho had notgotren any courrseling ortreatment. I aslt you to rententberlhat.

'['he trauma physiciar.l who treated Campos testified as follorvs r.vith respect to the lasting r'l'fects rrlCampos's injuries:

Physically. a lot of.iau iniLrries. rvhich means he woulcl have problems swallorving. prohlerns eating, problems u'ith the

chewing mostly. Ile would have sorne nerve iniury over that side, which tneans he wouldn't be able to smile conectly or

appropriately. IIe would have problerns rvith.iust tluid collection in that area, bccause lhe sweat glands and the salivary

glands would have been iniured also.
When asked what rvould happen if someone in Canrpos's position did not reccivc, *667 treatinertt, the doctor indicatcd that

rhe eftects of his injuries rvould worsen over tirne. 'l'he prosecutor's argument u,irs tiattred itr a ntanner consistent rvith the

questiorr posed to tlre treating physician. 'flrere is no elror in this arg,ument.
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1, Campo,s's.fuar

Alcegairc also argues that the prosecutor irnproperly bolstered Campos's lestimony by stating that Carnpos tbared for his life '

The prqsecutor's srarement that Campo.s ibared tbr his life slightly differed from Campos's trial testimony, which rvas as

follorvs:

Prosecutor: Now Felix, is the reason that you tlon't wanl to be here because you clon't ivant to be involved in this trial?

Carnpos: Yes.

I)rosccutor: ls it because y"ou're afraid'l

()anrpos: Yes.

'l'he jury knerv thar Canrpos rvas rhe sole surviving witness after being shot in the tace and lell lbr dead in a resideucc where

his rhree houscrnates were murcleretl. Campos inijicatccl that he dicl nol want to testify and lvas al'raid. 'fhere is no er"ror in the

prosecutor's statement, r.vhich drew a fair inf'erence t'rclnr the evidence.

3. (.-unrpos's atlunpls to identify suspecls

Alccgairc challcngcs the prosecutor's conrrnents that Carnpcls ''worked hard not to pick lhc wrong people" and that he "does

not rilant thc wrong people convicted." 'fh{ire is no eror in these comments. Law cnf<rrcernent ott'icers testil'ictl about the

rnrrltiple visits rvitli Campos in the days following the incident ancl thc fact that Canrpr:s did not inrmediatel.v identit.v' the

suspects. 'Ihe prosecutor offered l'air comtnenls on the evidence.

-1. (.'anrpos in shock a/ier the shooling

Alccgaire als6 argues that the prosecutor inrproperly bolstered Canrpos's testirnony by stating that Campos rvas in shock after

being shqt. While Alcegaire is correct thal there was no mcdical testimony that Carnpos rvas in shock, the prosecutor was

enlitled to rlrarv a reasonable inference tiom the eviclsnce, 'l'his evidence estatrlished (hat Canrpos r.r'as at horne when his three

heusernates were murdered. and indeed, he was thc sole survivor after being shot in the lace and left for dead. '[hc

prosecutor's comnlent was not improper.

C. Denigraling thc Defense and the l)cfendaul

Alcegaire also rnaintains that thc prosecutor tlenigratcd him as rvell as delense coutrscl by (l) suggesting that thc dcfbnse

argulnent "doesn't ljt rlre bill" and docsn't rnatch thc evidence presented: (l) clainring that an argument w'as alrsurd; (J)

respilntiing t6 the dcfense counsel's rr$ack on the State's circurnstantial evidence; and (4) offuring improper comlnentary

about Alcegaire's behavior rvhile ricling in an elcvator with Snrith hours betbre the nrurtlers. "l'he prosecutor's conttnents in

the first three points flail within thc scope o{'reasonable argun]ent, and Alcegaire lras tailed to establish any etror, let alont"

lundanrental error. We address the tburth point, regarcling Alcegaire's and Sntith's behavior in the elevator. becausc ol
Alccgaire's argument that the commenls wcre inflarnmatory. However, we conclude that no error occurred.

Anrqng thc sun,eillance l'ootage lrom the Monte Carlo apartnlent complex was a video rccording rvithout sound that captured

Alcegaire ancl Snrith in an elevatol as the nvo preparetl to leave the conrplex and travel to l-akcland. l)uring closing, ret'crring

to the video, rho prosecutor arguecl: *668 "lle [Alcegaire] was in that elevator. high-fiving Jarnaal Srnith. rvhoop, rvhnop,

excitecl t() colne ro I..akelanci to kill these people. 1'hcy were happy and ready to go to come dou'n h(jl'c and take rhe lives ol



Alceqaire v. $tate,326 So.3d 655 (20?1)

46 Fla. L. Weekly 5264

these fouryoung people r.vho had such futurcs ahead of them."

We tlisagree with Alcegairc's argument that the prosecutor misrepresented the behavior in the elevator. The video clearly

demonstrates that Alcegaire and Smith, who were talking and smiling, appeared to be excited and in a good mood. Although

they did not "high-tive" one another in the traditional sense, Alcegaire and Smith slapped their palms together multiple times,

did a hand gesrure, and shook hands.

During the brief period of tirne in the elevator, Alcegaire and Srnith were in the very process of leaving the apartment

buildiirg to drive io I.akelancl wlrere tlrey'commifted rnultiple murders. 'lheir lighthearted behavior on the elevator reflected

none of the gravitl,'olthe crimes that occurred mere hours latcr.'fhere was no error in the prosecutor's argument,

D. Expressions of Personal Belief and Opinion

Alcegaire also argues that the prosecutor improperly offered personal beliefs and <lpinions throughout the closing argument

by using the worcis "l think." ln particular, Alcegaire challenges the prosecutor's dcscription of him as one ol'his brother's

soldiers as unsupported by the evidence. For instanqe: "l think Johnathan Alcegaire was there because, again, I believe him to

be a soldier for his brother. t think that he had a job to do, and he came to Lakeland to do it."

[:'ar from being an expression of improper belief or opinion, the evidence presented at trial established that Washington and

.loscph engagcd in drug-related transactions. Orr the evening of Jtmuary 5, 20 16, Alcegaire coordinated rvith Joseph regarding

tlre rental of'the Ll-Haul van. Alcegaire clrove the van throughout the evening (as captured by surveillance fbotage at the

Monte Carlo apartrnents). and he drove the van from Miami to Lakeland and back on the morning ol'January 6. Campos

i{entilicd Alcegairc as one of the assailants that morning; Campos also testified that in an atlempt to extraal money,

Washington rvas beaten before being shot. Alcegaire's argument is rvithout merit, as the State's argument was a fair comment

on the evidence.

Alcegaire also asscrts that the prosccutor impropcrly opined rhat Campos was in shock after the murders. As we explained in

suhsection Il otthis issue, the evidence supported the prosecutor's comment,

E, Justice for the Victims

Alcegaire argues that the prosecutor improperly argued for justice for the victinrs. The prosecutor said:

I:clix Carnpos is rhe reason that we are able to be in this courtroom today and the reason that we are able to seek justice I'or

David Washington and Stacy Branch and Angelica Castro and for our unrvilling victim, Felix Campos.

He's guilty olall nine counts in that indictrnent. These victims deserve justice.'l'hat's why you're here. l'm askingyou to
return verdicfs of guilty. 'l'hank you so much.

...'l'he biggest rnistake they made rvas letting F'elix Campos live. And again, justice needs to be served.

'l'his Court has emphasized the impropriety of using an argument that seeks jLrstice for a victim:

When the State instead uses closing argument to appeal to the jury's sense of *669 outrage at what happened to the victim
and asks the jurors to retum a verdict tlrat brings'Justice" to the victirn, the State perverts the purpose of closing argllnlent

and engages in the very rype of argument that has been repeatedly condemned as antithetical to the foundation of our
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criminal iusticg syslem that guarantee s a fair trial to every accuscd.
('ortlont I,. t(,/d. llli So. jrl -il.l. j20 (l:la. l()16). ln ('arli,trt.r, a case involving the murder ola three-year-old child and a

honific pattem olabusc that precedcd thc child's tjeath, the prosecutor repeatedly stated the r.vords'iustice lbr Lazaro," and

in fact, used the phrase "as the theme of the closing argurnent." td. at 521 -22. Concluding that the prosecutor's comments

"pervaded the prosecutor's closing argument," lve concluded that Cardona was entitled to a new trial. i,i. at i2-i' Having

reviewetl the aryument in its entirety, we conclude that the prosecutor's comments did not become the theme ol, nor pervade

the closing argument. Consequently, Alcegaire is not entitled to relief.

li. Cumulative Error in Closing Argument

Alcegaire argues cumulative cn'or lvith rcspect to the prosecutor's closing argulnent. Alcegaire's argument includes a porlion

of tlrJ State'irebuttal argument that involved the use of a denronstrative aid. While we discuss the rebuttal argulnent claim in

issue three, rve have considered it here in the corltext ofthe State's entire closing argument.

.'We do not rcview each of the allegedly improper conlments in isolation; instead, we examine 'the entire closing argument

with specitic atrention to the objectici+o ... and rhe unobjected-to arguments' in order to determine 'whether the cumulative

sffect"' of those arguments deprived A lcegaire ol a t-air trial. llr,ultJ.v v. Stu! tt, l l l So. 3 d 8 l 0. 8-l ? ( l:'la 20 1 2 ) (quotin g ("'trtl

\.. :;t(t*!. $0--1 So. 2cl 5li. t:22 il:lir.200 l). Ilaving carefully reviewed the enlircty of the State's closing argument, we

conclude that Alcegaire 's cumulative eror claim is rvithout merit.

lll, Rebuttal Argument and the Use of a Denronstrative Aid

Ilvidencc introduced at trial revealed thar on Decernber 27,2015, Alcegaire received a tcrxt message frotn Washington

containing Washington's home address,23 l4 East lvlagncrlia Street in l-.akeland. Alcegaire used his cell phone to conduct an

interner scarch for that acldrcss, and he n'aveled there from Miami the same day. Several days later, on January 3'2016,
Alccgaire used his cell phonc to search I'or another address in Lakeland.203t West Magnolia Street. During witness

testirnony and closing argumcnt, dcfense counsel relied on the evidencs of Alcegaire's searclt forthe West Magnolia address

to suggest tlrat when the murclers occurred, Alcegaire was at that location, not at Washington's residence.

During closing rebuttal argument, the prosecutor shorved the jury a rnap depicting both the hlast Magnolia and West

tvtagnolia addiesses and argued that it w'as unlikely that upon aniving in Lakeland, Alcegaire went to the West Magnolia

acidicss. remained thcre while the rnurders were occurring, and was picked up afterward.t Defense counsel objected to the use

of the map an<i the corresponding argument on the ground that the prosecutor *670 was "admitting trew evidence that rvas not

before the jury in closing arguments." 'l'he rrial court overruled the objection. The map was received as a court exhibit and

rvas not admitted into evidence.

'fhc nrap shorvcrj that tia-st lvlagnolia Srrcet and \Vest Magnolia Strect arc two scparate streets. not diffclcnt cnds ofthe samc stree!.

Witncss restinrony cstablished thal Wcsr lr4agnolia Street wa-s wcst olljast Magnolia Strcet.

The trial coun did nor en in pemritting the use o{'the map as a demonstrative aid. Wc revieu'trial coutl rulings on the use ol'

demonstrative aids lor an abuse of discretion. l)ttis t'..\rrrlr,,. lf I So. -]cl ..161.'t88 (l la. l{l l.l) (quoting ll tlliant: rr. .Stcrc. Q(:7

So. 2cl 735. 751 (Flu. :007)). Although the map depicting the two addresses rvas t'irst sho,,vn during rebuttal, the jury heard

testimony regarding Washington's East Magnolia address, and it learned that belbre the murders. Alcegaire conducted

intemet searches for the East Magnolia and the West Magnolia addresses. Thus, the evidencc visrrally demonstrated on the

nlap was not without support in the record.

Moreover, having revierved the relevant pt'rrtions

deliberately of'l'ered false or rrrisleading argument in
ol the record, rve reject Alcegaire's argunlent that the prosecutor

rebuttal. ln responding to the defense's assertion that Alcegaire was at
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201 I West Magnolia Srreet and not at Washington's resiricncc rvhcn the nturders occut'rscl. thc prosecutor argued that it was

unlikel;' that the t,l-l.laul van rraveled a route that placed Alcegaire in proximity to 201 I West Magnolia Street. However, red

Iight earnera lbotage dernonstrated that afrer the murders, the van traveled on [J,S. I{ighway'92. in the vicinity of the West

lvlagnolia Strcet address.

While eviclence placcd thc van in thc gcncral area oi the West Magnillia Strect address. as conceded by delense counsel

clur:ing closing argunlent, there rvas a question as to the exact strcets thc van trilveled throughout tlre t.akeland area. The

surveillancc lcrotage caplured briel'periods of tinre and did not offer a continuous account olthe van's movements to allcl

lrurn ttcr crinrc scene.'tlre trial coun did not abuse its discretion in this instancc.

IV. Victinr lmpact f,vidence

Alcegairc challcngcs thc vistint impact evidence otl'ered by the Statc, which consisted of statetnents frotn a total of ten

rvitrresses. Most of the statctnents were read by the prosecutor. "Evidencq, o{'a fanrily member's grief and sutlering due to the

Ioss cll'lhc victint is svidence o['the resultant loss to thc comnrunity's nremhers by the victirn's death'permitted by sei:tiiltr
qll l-l lrll,:rndtheadnrissionof suchevidenceisconsistentwiththeSuprerne Court'sdecisioninI'tii'.,tsr'.7'rtr?''\.\rri.5tll
LS, 808. lll 5. t't. lsqi. ll5 l..l:d, :rl jlO (199 l)." l it'ir;lnrt r'.51ir/,,, ll? So. ir1 ,{7{i. -ltJ{r (i:lr. li)l-l).'Two stalenrerrts

rrerc off'qred on bshalf olWashington, tbur statements lvere ofl'ered on behalf oltlranch. and fcrur statenlents were oft'ered otl

behallof Clastro. Ile lcrre tlre State began its vicrinr irnpact prqrscntation, defense counscl atTirrnatively stated fiat there was no

objection. Alcegaire's challenge is r.vithout rnerit.

'[he lrlnrida stalute govcrning victim inrpact cvidence is norv codilicd iu l.'cliittr 9-? l. I'l I (ll]. ]:ii'i id. \lalr:lls r.:ii2t),

Alccgaire's dec,ision to waive the presentation of mitigation during the penalty'phase did not aher the State's right tct present

victirn irnpact testinronv, arrd tlrc preselttation of such testinron,v did not render the penalty phasc lirnclamentally unfair'.'I'he
trial court instructcd the jur,v that thc victim impact testirnony wa.r not to he used tbr lincling aggravation and was not to be

considerecl as an a{agravating factor.

*671 Morcovcr, thc victinr impact staternents were relatively short and were within thc scope o{- proper victirn inrpacl

eviclencc,, describing cach victim's uniqueness as an individual and the resultant loss to the cornmunity. Additionally, thc
victinr inrpact testinrony was limited to fu,o to four witnesses per victirn. In l)i|)(r.r1,i,r", r,. Stitttt. qq5 So. ld jil. 178 (lrla.

)001i1" the testinrony ot'flve victinr inrpact witnesses (three rcprescnting onc victirr and lwo representing the other victim)
wasadrrrissible.Scealsol-trir*t r'.,tt<re,.80 I Srr. ld.1.1.,i2(ljla.200l)(noerorintheadnrissionofvictimimpacttestirnony
of'twelve rvitncsses filr onc victim whcre the testimony staycd within the requirernents of l'rrvr.'r'. 7.'riir,'.sscc). There rvas no

en'ur in thc Statc:'s presentation olvictim impact evidence.

V, Curuulaiivc Error

Alcegairc clairns that the cunrulative etTect of the various allcged errors deprived hinr of a l'air trial. "Hou'ever. where the
alleged errors urged lor conxideration in a curnulativcr en'or nnalysis are individually either procedurally,barred or rvithclut
nterit, thc clainr oi cutnulative error also necessarill,- fails." lJtsir r'. .tra/.,. jQj So. jil l?-q. 2l.t (l:1r. 202t)) (quoting lsrttl ;.
3ii.rrr,. 9S5 S,.r. ld i l{t" 5:$ i I'h. 3tlitti 1).

VI. Sufficiencv ol'lhe Eyideuce
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Alcegaire does not challenge the sutficicncy ol'the evidence on which the Stattr relicd to obtain its convictiotts. Nonetheless,
this Court rrust indepcrndcntlll' evaluate each death caser for lhe sufficiency of thc cvit{ence relied upon to convict the

del'endant. tno t',1f i,rl u .!Iars. j8 So 3tl l&:. i00 (Ha" l0lll.'"ln conducting this revierv, we vieu'thc evidr:ncc in the light
rnost lavorable (o the State to determinc rvhethsr a rational trier of (act could havc tound the eristencc olthe elcrnents of the
crime bey-ondareasonabledoubt."l&'tl:tt:t'tr'."!trrlr,.948So. 1d6:-i,67.1 (l'lir.2il0(rl(citing{lrallc.tt''itlttt.lSi\o. ld7i:.
7.i8 rl la. l0{}ti). "['f]lre concern on appeal nrust be whether, alter all confiicts in the evidence and all reasonablc inferences
theretiom have been resolved in favor ofthe vcrdict on appeal, there is substantial, conrpetent evidence to support the verdict
and judgment;' !ii'h:; r' .Si*/.r. -ic)7 So. id ll;l{). il?.i 1}:in. I98 l).

Alccgairc's convictions are supportcd by cornpetent. substantial evidence. Alcegaire rvas a key parlicipant in the crirnes tbr
rvhich he rvas convicted. Ailel Joseph rcnred the L;-Haul van on Januar,v- 5 expressly' lirr the purpose olround-trip travel lrom
Irliarni to lVashington's resicicncc in l..akeland. Alcegaire drove the van that evening and drove it to and liom l,akeland on

Januar1,6. Surveillancu tbotage--belbre and after the murders*showed Alcegaire driving the van. Alcegaire rvas also
captured on surveillance lootage with Snrith, both in the van and at the Monte Carlo apafirnent complex.

'I'he testirntrny of Canrpos, the [one surviving rvitncss, placed Alcegaire at the crirne scene during thc murders. Campos
recogniz.ed Alcegaire tiorn a recent visit to Washington's rcsidencc, and thal visit rvas corroboratcd Lry other rvimess

teslimony and by datu rctrieved iiorrr cell phone records.

Alcegaire was seen on surveillance tbotage lvearing a stra\.v hat at the Monte Carlo apartments on thL' nroming of the
rnurders. l'he State also introduced recent cell phone photos of Alcegaire rvearing a straw hat. The driver of the U-l-laul van
wore a straw hat. and a sraw hat lvas later filund in the trunk ofJoseph's car.

Al'ter the rnurders. Alcegaire used his ccll phonc, to conduct multiple intemet searclres related to the rnurdr:r's. [.]e deleted *672

text nlessages, including a text mcssase liom Washington cr:ntaining Washington's address. l-le also deleted his phone call
lristory I'rr.rnr his cell plrone. At the lirne ol'Alcegaire's arrest, he was changing his appcarance b;* having his distinctive
dreadlocks removed. Conrpetent, substantial evidence suppons Alcegairc"s conr ictions.

CONCLTJSION

F'or these rcasons, rve alfirm Alcegaire's convictions and sen{cnces.

Il is so ordered.

l,i)l"S l"()N. I AISAt{(i,.\, \11-;\i17, and fiR(j!SI {ANS, J.1., conclrr.

L'i.r,,ir\I)\,C.J.,concursinresultwithanopinion.inwhich1.1 $,.'.\{.)irand(.ttt.;ltiI I,,.IJ..concur.

{'C}lillllr:1., J., concurs in parl and concurs in result with an opinion, in which I.AWSON, J.. concurs

f ,.\\r\t)Y. C.J., concurrinE in resillt.

I coticur rvith the decision tn alfimr Alcegaire's convictions and sentences. On issue lll. I rvould conclude that any errors in
the prosecutor's use of thc map as a dcmonstrativc aid and in rhe argumsnt based on the map u'ere harrnless bey.'ond a

reasonable clouht^ 'I'he use ttf the ntap and the related argumcnts lollowed in response to the deibnsc argument that the
def'endant was never at lhe crirne scerre but had insread been dropped off befbre and picked up after the nrurders at another
location.'l'his argurncnt by the def'ense is without an)- factui]l support in the record; ir constitutes nothing rnore than pure
speculalion. Ancl it is re{utcd by the cycwitncss testinrony of the survivirrg victim, which unequivocall}'placed the defendant
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at the crime scene when the nrurders were committed. Civen these circurnstances and the wholc cviclcntiary context, it is

clcal beyond a reasonable doubt that any errors in thc use of the map and in the related argument werc harmless.

L^r\\,\t )\ and i^'Ot :Hil: 1.. .lJ concut'

('( ll lRllL1... J., concurring as to parts II-VI and concurring in result.

I:lverr iltre could not establish that he had been prriudicecl, Alcegaire would be cntitled to a new trial if the jurors had decided
his verdict by lot. if the verdict rvas contl'aly tei lar,v or the weight ol the evidence, or-and this is thc provision at issue
here-*-

Inlew and material evidcnce, which, if introduccd at the trial rvould probably have changed the vc,rciict or tinding of the
court, and which the det'endant could not rvith reasonable diligence havs dissovered ard produced at the trial, ha[d] been

cliscovered.
I:la. l{. Crinr. P. j.{,(}(}(nj("1); sce also,lt)n,:,.t i,. Srutr. it} I So. lul 9ll ql:la. 199 ll. '[he trial court decidcd Alccgaire was not
entitled to a new trial on that basis, and we revierv that dccision for abuse of discretion. See ('rtns't!t',s ';. ,\tuti'.9j7 So. ld
5:5. -i6l ([:ln. 2(.X)6): ll,'ll r Sttu,'.90 So. ]d ?{).1.70: (}:Li. 1956).

[ llnd none- While felix Campos's testimony ar tial (that he saw Alcegairc inside thc residence on the morrillg olthe crime)
dilfbrs fiom his post-trial statement (that he hcard his voice there and rhen. hut did nol see him). that testimony still puts

Alcegaire at the sccne ol'the murder. In that respect. this testirnonl. con'oboratcs other evidence in the record. including
securitv' canlera l'oolage shorting Alcegaire driving into and out of the apaflntenl cornplex. Orr these facts. the lrial court's
decisittn to denv Alcegaire's rnotion for a nerv trial was not arbitrary, lanciful, or urrreasonable; rve cannolr sa)'that no
reasonable *673 person rvould have dcnied it. See f-r.iit.'ts r, .Jlirlc.970 So.:d l.i()6. lili (|la.2007).

Alcegairc argues that "[tlhe trial court should have granted ftrisl Motiur lbr New'li'ial." lt is tlre State, not Alcegaire,
contcnding bef<rre us that the trial courl lacked jurisdiction to rule on the motion, And there is some suppon lor the State's
pcrsition, which today's nra"iority adopts. See Philip J. Paclovano, I;loridu /lppttllttret Prailice $ l:6 (202 I ed.), "Jurisdiction
pr.'nding revierv" ("Sub.icct to ... cxceptions fnot applicable herel, the trial courl r1a), tlot address the nrerits ol'an order or
.iudgment iu a crirninal casi* alier the filing o1'a notice of appeal. For exarnple, the trial court lacks .iurisdiction Io grant a
judgment of acquittal or a now t'ial a{ter the del'endant has liled a noticc of a;rpcal l'ronr the conviction.").

llul rve need not decide that question today to alTirnr the trial court's decision. Whether for rvant ol jurisdiction or on the
hasis of the evidencc introduced at trial, it wa.q no abuse of discretion to deny thc lnotion lor a nerv trial.

L\ l\ 5i )\. J., concurs.
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